Church Slavonic Fonts

Aleksandr Andreev* Nikita Simmons

September 6, 2020 version 2.2

(PDF file generated on September 6, 2020)

Contents

1	I Introduction					
	1.1	License	3			
	1.2	Description	3			
	1.3	Installation and Usage	3			
		1.3.1 Font Formats	4			
	1.4	Source Packages	4			
	1.5	System Requirements	4			
		1.5.1 Microsoft Windows	5			
		1.5.2 GNU/Linux	5			
		1.5.3 OS X	5			
	1.6	Private Use Area	5			
2	Ope	nType Technology	6			
	2.1	On Microsoft Windows	6			
	2.2	On GNU/Linux	7			
	2.3	OpenType Features	7			
		2.3.1 Combining Mark Positioning	7			
		2.3.2 Glyph Composition and Decomposition	8			
		2.3.3 Language-based Features	8			
		2.3.4 Stylistic Alternatives and Stylistic Sets	9			
	2.4	SIL Graphite Technology	9			
	2.5	Support of Advanced Features in LibreOffice	10			

^{*}Comments may be directed to aleksandr.andreev@gmail.com.

3	Fonts for Synodal Slavonic						
	3.1	Ponom	nar Unicode	10			
		3.1.1	Advanced Features of the Font	13			
4	Font	s for Pr	e-Nikonian Printed Slavonic	15			
	4.1	Fedoro	ovsk Unicode	15			
		4.1.1	Advanced Features of the Font	16			
5	Font	s for W	orking with Ancient Manuscripts	18			
	5.1	Menaio	on Unicode	18			
		5.1.1	Advanced Features of the Font	18			
6	Font	s for A	cademic Work	18			
	6.1	Monon	nakh Unicode	18			
		6.1.1	Advanced Features of the Font	22			
	6.2	Shafari	ik	24			
7	Dece	orative l	Fonts	24			
	7.1	Indiction	on Unicode	24			
	7.2	Vertog	rad Unicode	25			
	7.3	Cathis	ma Unicode	25			
	7.4	Oglavi	e Unicode	25			
	7.5	Pomor	sky Unicode	26			
		7.5.1	Advanced Features of the Font	26			
8	Tech	nical Fo	onts: FiraSlav	26			
9	Kno	wn Issu	es	28			
10	Cred	lits		28			

1 Introduction

Church Slavonic (also called Church Slavic, Old Church Slavonic or Old Slavonic; ISO 639-2 code cu) is a literary language used by the Slavic peoples; presently it is used as a liturgical language by the Russian Orthodox Church, other local Orthodox Churches, as well as various Byzantine-Rite Catholic and Old Ritualist communities. The package fonts-churchslavonic provides fonts for representing Church Slavonic text.

The fonts are designed to work with Unicode text encoded in UTF-8. Texts encoded in legacy codepages (such as HIP and UCS) may be converted to Unicode using a separate bundle of utilities. See the Slavonic Computing Initiative website for more information.

1.1 License

The fonts distributed in this package are licensed under the SIL Open Font License (version 1.1 or later).

As free software, these fonts are distributed in the hope that they will be useful, but WITHOUT ANY WARRANTY; without even the implied warranty of MERCHANTABILITY or FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. See the SIL Open Font License for more details.

This document is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 4.0 International License. To view a copy of this license, visit the CreativeCommons website.

1.2 Description

The package provides several fonts that are intended for working with Church Slavonic text of various recensions and other texts related to Church Slavonic: modern Church Slavonic text ("Synodal Slavonic"), historical printed Church Slavonic text and manuscript uncial (ustav) Church Slavonic text (in either Cyrillic or Glagolitic), as well as text in Sakha (Yakut), Aleut (Fox Island dialect), and Romanian (Moldovan) Cyrillic, all written in the ecclesiastical script. The coverage of the various fonts agrees with the guidelines for font coverage specified in Unicode Technical Note #41: Church Slavonic Typography in Unicode. Generally speaking, it includes most (but not all) characters in the Cyrillic, Cyrillic Supplement, Cyrillic Extended-A, Cyrillic Extended-B, Cyrillic Extended-C (as of Unicode 9.0), Glagolitic, and Glagolitic Supplement blocks of Unicode. Characters not used in Church Slavonic, however, are not included (except for some characters used in modern Russian, Ukrainian, Belorussian, Serbian and Macedonian for purposes of compatibility with some applications).

1.3 Installation and Usage

If you are reading this document, then you probably have already downloaded the font package. You may check if you have the most recent version by visiting the Slavonic Computing Initiative website.

1.3.1 Font Formats

All fonts are currently available in a single format:

- OpenType fonts with PostScript outlines (also called OpenType-CFF fonts).
- TrueType fonts have been deprecated, and are no longer provided. If you need TrueType fonts, see the Legacy Fonts package.

You may need the legacy TrueType fonts in the following scenarios:

- OpenOffice.org and older versions of LibreOffice require use of SIL Graphite, which is only available in the TTF version. This limitation has been fixed as of LibreOffice 5.3, which now has full OpenType support.
- OpenType-CFF fonts were poorly supported in Java prior to Oracle Java SE 7.
- In Microsoft products, OpenType glyph positioning is not supported for glyphs in the Private Use Area or characters outside of the Unicode 7.0 range. You should use LibreOffice if you need positioning of combining Glagolitic characters.

1.4 Source Packages

You can also download the FontForge sources for all of the fonts from the GitHub repository. This is only useful if you are planning on editing the fonts in the FontForge font editor. In general, you will not gain any productivity improvements from rebuilding the font files, so rebuilding from source is not recommended, unless you have a real need to modify the fonts, for example, to add your own additional glyphs to the Private Use Area.

1.5 System Requirements

All of these fonts are large Unicode fonts and require a Unicode-aware operating system and software environment. Outside of a Unicode-aware environment, you will only be able, at most, to access the first 256 glyphs of a font.

1.5.1 Microsoft Windows

Unicode-encoded OpenType-CFF fonts are supported starting with Windows 2000. You will need a word processor that can handle Unicode-based documents, such as Microsoft Word 97 and above, or LibreOffice. If using TeX, you will need a Unicode-aware TeX engine, such as XaTeX or LuaTeX.

You will also need a way to enter the Unicode characters that are not directly accessible from standard keyboards. We recommend installing a Church Slavonic or Russian-Extended keyboard layout, available from the Slavonic Computing Initiative website. It is also possible to enter characters using the Windows Character Map utility or by codepoint, but this is not recommended.

1.5.2 GNU/Linux

In order to be able to handle OpenType fonts, your system should have the freetype library installed and enabled; this is normally done by default in all modern distributions. You will need a Unicode-aware word processor, such as LibreOffice. If using TEX, you will need a Unicode-aware TEX engine, such as XTEX or LuaTEX.

You will need a keyboard driver to input Unicode characters. Under GNU/Linux, this is handled by the m17n library and database. See the Slavonic Computing Initiative website for more details.

1.5.3 OS X

Not sure.

1.6 Private Use Area

The Unicode Private Use Area (PUA) is a set of three ranges of codepoints (U+E000 to U+F8FF, Plane 15 and Plane 16) that are guaranteed to never be assigned to characters by the Unicode Consortium and can be used by third parties to allocate their own characters. The Slavonic Computing Initiative has established an industry standard for character allocation in the PUA, which is described in full in the PUA Allocation Policy.

The PUA in these fonts contains various additional glyphs: contextual alternatives, stylistic alternatives, ligatures, hypothetical and nonce glyphs, various glyphs not yet encoded in Unicode, and various technical symbols. Most of these glyphs (the alternative glyphs and ligatures) are normally accessible via

OpenType features. Thus, you generally do not need to access glyphs in the PUA directly. There may be some exceptions:

- If you need to access characters not yet encoded in Unicode and nonce glyphs.
- If you need to access alternative glyphs and ligatures on legacy systems that do not support OpenType or Graphite features.
- If you are a computer programmer and need to work with glyphs on a low level without relying on OpenType: having all alternatives mapped to the PUA allows for a simple way to access glyphs by codepoint instead of working with glyph indexes, which can change between versions of a font.

For the characters mapped in the PUA and other technical considerations, please see the PUA Allocation Policy.

2 OpenType Technology

OpenType is a "smart font" technology for advanced typography developed by Microsoft Corporation and Adobe Systems and based on the TrueType font format. It allows for correct typography in complex scripts as well as providing advanced typographic effects. This is achieved by applying various *features*, or *tags*, described in the OpenType specification. Some of these features are supposed to be enabled by default, while others are considered optional, and may be turned on and off by the user when desired.

2.1 On Microsoft Windows

In order to use these advanced typographic features, in addition to a "smart" font (like the fonts in this package), you need an OpenType-aware application. Not all applications currently support OpenType, and not all applications that claim to support OpenType actually support all features or provide an interface to access features. Older versions of Microsoft's Uniscribe library did not support OpenType features for Cyrillic and Glagolitic, but beginning with Windows 7, this has been resolved.

Generally speaking, you will get best results in X₁T_EX or LuaT_EX using the fontspec package or using advanced desktop publishing software such as Adobe

InDesign. Most OpenType features are also accessible in Microsoft Office 2010 and later. LibreOffice also supports OpenType features starting with version 4.1, and support for turning off and on optional features was added in version 5.3. Please see the section Support of Advanced Features in LibreOffice, below.

2.2 On GNU/Linux

OpenType support is provided by the HarfBuzz shaping library, which is accessible through FreeType, part of most standard distributions of the X Window System. Thus, OpenType will be available in any application that uses FreeType, though some applications lack an interface to turn on and off optional features. Generally speaking, you will get best results in X-TEX or LuaTEX using the fontspec package. LibreOffice also supports OpenType features starting with version 4.1, and support for turning off and on optional features was added in version 5.3. Please see the section Support of Advanced Features in LibreOffice, below.

2.3 OpenType Features

2.3.1 Combining Mark Positioning

OpenType allows smart diacritic positioning: if you type a letter followed by a diacritic, the diacritic will be placed exactly above or below the letter; this is provided by the mark feature. In addition, the mkmk feature is used to position two marks with respect to each other, so that an additional diacritic can be stacked properly above the first. This behavior is demonstrated below:

$$\mathbf{A} + \circ \rightarrow \mathbf{A}$$

$$\mathbf{A} + \circ \rightarrow \mathbf{A}$$

$$\circ + \circ \rightarrow \mathbf{A}$$
(glyph positioning via *mark* feature)
$$\circ + \circ \rightarrow \mathbf{A}$$
(glyph positioning via *mkmk* feature)

The fonts provide proper mark and mkmk anchor points for all Cyrillic and Glagolitic letters and combining marks, allowing you to enter them in almost any combination (even those that are implausible). Most OpenType renderers (except older versions of Adobe's Cooltype library) support these features, so you should be able to achieve correct positioning in most OpenType-aware applications (for example, in MS Word 2010 or newer, LibreOffice 4.1 or newer, and X-TEX).

2.3.2 Glyph Composition and Decomposition

The Glyph Composition / Decomposition (ccmp) feature is used to compose two characters into a single glyph for better glyph processing. This feature is also used to create precomposed forms of a base glyph with diacritical marks when use of only mark and mkmk cannot achieve the necessary positioning. It is also used to create alternative glyph shapes, such as the alternative version of the Psili used over capital letters and the truncated forms of the letter Uk used with accent marks, as is demonstrated in the examples below:

Generally speaking, the *ccmp* feature is not supposed to (and often just cannot) be turned off, and thus this functionality should work properly in any OpenType-aware application. For more details on ligatures, see Unicode Technical Note #41: Church Slavonic Typography in Unicode.

2.3.3 Language-based Features

Language-based features such as the locl (localized forms) feature provide access to language-specific alternate glyph forms, such as the alternate forms of the Cyrillic Letter I used in Ukrainian and Belorussian:

- (Church Slavonic text)
- i (Ukrainian text)

To make use of these features, you need an OpenType-aware application that supports specifying the language of text, for example X₁T_EX or LuaT_EX using the fontspec or polyglossia packages. Since many software applications do not allow you to specify Church Slavonic as a language of text, it is assumed by default that the font is being used to represent Church Slavonic text, and thus all glyphs have Church Slavonic appearances unless another language is specified.

LibreOffice allows you to specify that text is in Church Slavonic starting with version 5.0. This will allow you to take advantage of other features, such as Church Slavonic hyphenation (see the Slavonic Computing Initiative website for more information). Microsoft Corporation does not recognize Church Slavonic

as a valid language, so you will not be able to set the language of text to Church Slavonic in any Microsoft product¹.

2.3.4 Stylistic Alternatives and Stylistic Sets

Stylistic Alternatives (salt feature) provide variant glyph shapes that may be selected by the user at will. Typically, these are glyphs that differ from the base glyph only in graphical appearance where the use of these glyphs does not follow any language-based or typography-based rules, but rather is just an embellishment. For example, the following variant forms of U+1F545 Symbol for Marks Chapter are provided:



Stylistic sets are used to enable a group of stylistic variant glyphs, designed to harmonize visually, and make them automatically substituted instead of the default forms. OpenType allows to specify up to 20 stylistic sets, marking them features ss01, ss02, ... ss20.

Use of Stylistic Alternatives and Stylistic Sets requires an OpenType-aware application that provides an interface to turn off and on advanced features (since by default these features are turned off). This is possible in XaTeX or LuaTeX using the fontspec package and in LibreOffice (starting with version 5.3) by use of a special syntax that appends the needed option to the font name. See the section Support of Advanced Features in LibreOffice, below. In Microsoft Office 2010 and later, Stylistic Sets may be turned off an on under OpenType features on the Advanced tab of the Font dialog. However, Micorosoft Office does not allow you to select multiple Stylistic Sets simultaneously or to access the salt feature. If necessary, you may access alternate glyphs by codepoint from the Private Use Area (PUA). However, relying on the PUA as a data exchange mechanism is discouraged.

2.4 SIL Graphite Technology

As of version 1.3 of this package, support for SIL Graphite features has been discontinued. If you need Graphite support, see the Legacy Fonts package.

¹Please do not contact the font maintainers about this issue. Instead, complain to Microsoft Customer Service in the USA at 1-800-642-7676 or in Canada at +1 (877) 568-2495.

2.5 Support of Advanced Features in LibreOffice

Support for OpenType features is available in LibreOffice and all OpenOffice.org derivatives starting with version 3.2 of OpenOffice.org. While correct positioning, attachment and substitutions will work automatically, earlier versions of LibreOffice had no mechanism to turn off and on optional features. Support for turning OpenType features off and on is available starting with LibreOffice version 4.1. However, there is no graphical interface that can be used. Instead, a special extended font name syntax has been developed: in order to activate an optional feature, its ID, followed by an equals sign and the ID of the desired setting, are appended directly to the font name string. An ampersand is used to separate different feature/settings pairs.

For example, the following "font" should be used in order to enable the ss01 (Stylistic Set 1) feature:

Ponomar Unicode:ss01=1

The same syntax is used to turn off and on optional Stylistic Alternatives (salt), where 1 indicates the first alternate glyph, 2 – the second alternate glyph, and so forth. Note that this feature is not available in Apache OpenOffice; since Apache OpenOffice is not well maintained, we suggest users migrate to Libre-Office.

This functionality will be useful for LibreOffice users relying on automatic hyphenation. Since LibreOffice has no mechanism to set the hyphenation character, the Ponomar Unicode and Monomakh Unicode fonts provide the underscore as a hyphenation character via Stylistic Set 1 in OpenType.

Of course modifying the font name directly is very inconvenient, since it is difficult to remember short tags and numerical values used for feature/setting IDs in different fonts. Unfortunately, there is presently no graphical interface to support turning off and on OpenType and SIL Graphite features.

3 Fonts for Synodal Slavonic

3.1 Ponomar Unicode

Ponomar Unicode is a font that reproduces the typeface of Synodal Church Slavonic editions from the beginning of the 20th Century. It is intended for working with modern Church Slavonic texts (Synodal Slavonic). Ponomar Unicode is based on the Hirmos UCS font designed by Vlad Dorosh, but has been modified

by the authors of this package. Examples of text set in Ponomar Unicode are presented below.

Εππέη πέπε, ήπε ης ήμε ης του πετευτήσως, ή πα πέτη τριωμως ης ττα, ή ης τιξάληψη τερήπελεй ης τίξε: ης σε βακόη τίξη σόλα διώ, ή σε βακόη ξίνω ποδηήπελ μέης ή μόψι. Η εξέτε τάκω μρέσο ης πρη ήτχόμημης σόλε, ξίπε πλόμε τσό μάττε σο σρέμλ τσος, ή λήττε διώ ης ωπαμέτε: ή σελ, δλήκα άψε πος ρήπε, οζιπίστε. Ης τάκω ης πράχε, διόπε σοβμετάστε σίτρε ω λημά βεμλή. Θειώ ράμη ης σοκρέτηδητε ης πετευτήσιη ης τίξε πέτης πετευτήσιη ης πετευτήσιης, ή πέτς πρίθημος, ή πέτς πρίθημος και πέτς πρίθημος, η πέτς πρίθημος και πέτς πρίθημος και πέτς πρίθημος και

Kievan Church Ślavonic uses a number of variant glyph forms, such as U+1C81 Long-Legged De (\downarrow) and U+A641 Variant Ze (ζ):

Other Languages The Ponomar Unicode font may also be used to typeset liturgical texts in other languages that use the ecclesiastic Cyrillic alphabet.

Three such examples are fully supported by the font: Romanian (Moldovan) in its Cyrillic alphabet, Aleut (Fox Island or Eastern dialect) in its Cyrillic alphabet, and Yakut (Sakha) as written in the alphabet created by Bishop Dionysius (Khitrov).

Here is an example of the Lord's Prayer in Romanian (Moldovan) Cyrillic:

Τάπαλο κότην κάρελε ἔψη ἢ Υέρωρη: ΟΦΗυκτκατε Η΄ Μελε πάν: κίε ἢπαραμίω πάν: φίε κόω πά, πρεκθμο ἢ Υέρω ωὰ πρε παμώκητο. Πώμητα κόλυτρα νὰ μεπθρθρά μάνε κόλω ἄτπαχη. Шὰ κε ιἄρπα κόλω τρεωάλελε κόλυτρε, πρεκθμο ωὰ κόμ ἐρπάμο τρεωήμηλωρο κόψρη. Шή κθηε μθνε πρε κόμ ἢ ἀτπήπα. Υὰ κε ἀχαακτωε με νέλο ράν.

And here is an example of the Lord's Prayer in Aleut Cyrillic:

And here is an example of the Lord's Prayer in Yakut (Sakha):

Халланнаря юрдюлюригюрь баря агабытя бисена! Свмтейдмининь атынг Эенм; колланя юрдюгорь курдукя боллуня; бюгюню кюнноги асыря аспытыня бисенинь кулу бисеха бюгюнь; бисиги да есторбитинь халларя бисеха, хайтах висиги да халларабыт вербить естах тарбитигарь; киларима да бисигини альдиархайга; хата быса бисигини альынтан .

3.1.1 Advanced Features of the Font

Ponomar Unicode places some characters in the Private Use Area (PUA). For the general PUA mappings, please see the PUA Allocation Policy.

In addition to the general PUA mappings, some characters have been allocated the open range section of the PUA. These are:

- U+F400 Alternatives of SMP glyphs: This section contains copies in the BMP of SMP glyphs for support in legacy applications. Currently, the following are available: U+F400 U+F405 Typicon symbols (copies of U+1F540 through U+1F545).
- U+F410 Presentation forms: Contains various presentation forms and ligatures used internally by the font. Generally, these are not intended to be called by users or external applications.
- U+F420 Linguistic alternatives: Contains alternative shapes of glyphs that are language specific. Right now, these are modern punctuation shapes for use with Latin characters. These are not intended to be called externally.
- U+F441 and on stylistic alternatives of Latin characters (Blackletter forms). These can be called via the Stylistic Set 2, but, if necessary, they may be called from the PUA directly. They are mapped to in the same order as in the Basic Latin block, beginning with U+F441 (for U+0041 Latin Capital Letter A). In addition to the Basic Latin repertoire, we also have: U+F4DE Blackletter Thorn; U+F4FE Lowercase Blackletter Thorn; and U+F575 Blackletter Long S

The font provides a number of ligatures, which are made by inserting the Zero Width Joiner (U+200D) between two characters. A list of ligatures is provided in Table 1.

In OpenType, a number of Stylistic Alternatives are defined. They are listed in Table 2. In addition to additional decorative glyphs for the Symbol for Mark's Chapter, the feature provides the alternate forms of the letter U+0423 $\$ that

Table 1: Ligatures available in Ponomar Unicode

Name	Sequence	Appearance
Ligature A-U	U+0430 U+200D U+0443	ar
Ligature El-U	U+043B U+200D U+0443	Λ̈́
Ligature Te-Ve	U+0442 U+200D U+0432	K

look exactly like U+A64A Uk (this usage is found in some publications), and an alternative form for the U+0404 Wide Ye for use in contexts where it needs to be distinguished from U+0415 Ye (mostly for Ukrainian text stylized in a Church Slavonic font).

Table 2: Stylistic Alternatives in Ponomar Unicode

•	Base Form	Alternate Forms		rms	
U+1F545	Ŕ	M	ſЖ	M	M
		H/R0	M	Ã	
U+0423	Ų	¥			~
U+040E	Й	ў			
U+0404	Ē	ϵ			

For the Cyrillic letters, the stylistic alternatives feature also allows access to truncated letter forms; the order of the alternate forms is always: lower truncation, upper truncation, left truncation, right truncation. Table 3 demonstrates which truncated forms are available. Generally speaking, truncation should be handled automatically by desktop publishing software and TeX, though this is difficult to accomplish.

Stylistic Set 1 (ss01) is provided as a temporary workaround to LibreOffice Bug 85731, which does not allow you to specify the hyphenation character in LibreOffice. When turned on, it replaces all instances of U+002D Hyphen-Minus and U+2010 Hyphen with U+005F Low Line (underscore) for use as a hyphenation character. Please note that this feature will be deprecated once the necessary functionality is added to LibreOffice.

There is also defined Stylistic Set 2 ("ss02"), Blackletter forms. When this stylistic set is turned on, Latin letters appear in blackletter as opposed to their modern forms. This is useful for setting Latin text side-by-side with Slavonic in some contexts. See the following example:

Note that as of version 2.0 of the font, the ASCII digits (commonly called "Arabic

Table 3: Truncated Forms Accessible via Stylistic Alternatives Feature in Ponomar Unicode

	Base Form	Truncated Forms		ed Forms
U+0440	ρ	ρ		
U+0443	Ý	Y		
U+0444	ф	ф	ф	
U+0445	Х	X	χ	Х
U+0446	ц	ц		•
U+0449	ιψ	щ		
U+0471	Ψ	1	Ψ	
U+A641	ζ	ζ		
U+A64B	Š	8	δ	8

Regular The quick brown fox. 1234567890. Å сї по слове́нски. Blackletter The quick brown fox. 1234567890. Å сї по слове́нски.

numerals") are provided in roman form. Use Stylistic Set 2 to access the black-letter forms, if necessary.

4 Fonts for Pre-Nikonian Printed Slavonic

4.1 Fedorovsk Unicode

Fedorovsk Unicode is based on the Fedorovsk font designed by Nikita Simmons. It has been re-encoded for Unicode, with added OpenType features. The Fedorovsk typeface is supposed to reproduce the typeface of the printed editions of Ivan Fedorov produced in Moscow, for example, the Apostol of 1564. The font is intended primarily for typesetting pre-Nikonian (Old Rite) liturgical texts or for working with such texts in an academic context.

Here is an example from the 1564 Apostol of Ivan Fedorov:

Первое оўбо слово сотворнуй о всекуй, $\tilde{\omega}$, деофиле, о ийже начати $\tilde{\kappa}$, творнинже й оўчнин. до негоже дне, за повекдави апломи дуюми сты, нуже йдбра вознесеса. прёнимнже й постави себе жива по страданій своёми. во мнозеуй йстинныхи знаменійхи. Дпьми четыридесатьми йвланса йми йгла йже

อิบุติซถิท ธพิเท . เทท์พทพะ ที่หัฐมิ , กางยะภษิยลับเะ ที่พร พิโะคาเลิกที่พล ทะพีลชาล์ซทเล . ทอิ жฐล์ซท อิธษิเราชิลัทเะ พิจัยะ , รัพะ เลมับเลเราะ พิพะทะ . หัหพ โพล์ทหร องุธอ หตุ๊รทัลร รับริธ ชอฐอัย . ชมพะทีพลาระ หตุยเราท์รทเล ฐรือพร เริ่มเพร , ทะกอ พทอ์รษิฐร เทรุร มีทั้

Here is an example from the Flowery Triodion of 1648:

ετρω πάειμε . Γλάετ , Ε . Δα κοεκρημετί κτι , ή ραβωί διτεκ κραβή ετω . Πάεχα ειμέμημα μάνιτα μπέεω ποκαβάελ , πάεχα μόκα ετάλ , πάεχα παμητεπική , πάεχα κενμέτημα , πάεχα κελήκαλ , πάεχα κέθρημαν , πάεχα μεπορόνημα , πάεχα κελήκαλ , πάεχα κέθρημαν , πάεχα κέθρημαν , πάεχα κέθρημαν . κέθρημαν . κέθρημαν .

4.1.1 Advanced Features of the Font

The font provides a number of ligatures, which are made by inserting the Zero Width Joiner (U+200D) between two characters. A list of ligatures is provided in Table 4.

Table 4: Ligatures available in Fedorovsk Unicode							
Name	Sequence	Appeara					
Ligature A-U	U+0430 U+200D U+0443	ar					

Name	Sequence	Appearance
Ligature A-U	U+0430 U+200D U+0443	ar
Ligature El-U	U+043B U+200D U+0443	Ŋ
Ligature A-Izhitsa	U+0430 U+200D U+0475	Ar .
Ligature El-Izhitsa	U+043B U+200D U+075	N
Ligature Te-Ve	U+0442 U+200D U+0432	76
Ligature Er-Yat	U+0440 U+200D U+0463	7

In OpenType, a number of Stylistic Alternatives are defined. They are listed in Table 5. In addition to providing alternative glyph shapes for U+1F545 Symbol for Mark's Chapter, they allow you to control the positioning of diacritical marks over certain letters.

Additionally, three stylistic sets have been defined in the font. Stylistic Set 1 ("Right-side accents") positions the accents over the Yat and the Uk on the right side and Stylistic Set 2 ("Left-side accents") positions the accents over the Yat and the Uk on the left side. These stylistic sets are useful when a text uses one of these positionings throughout. Stylistic Set 10 ("Equal Baseline Variants") sets the

Table 5: Stylistic Alternatives in Fedorovsk Unicode

	Base Form		Alternate Forms					
U+0404	6	6						
U+0426	Ц	Ц						
U+0491	Ļ	ŕ						
U+A64C	∞	ω						
U+047C	ౙ Ü	$\widetilde{\mathfrak{G}}$						
U+047E	$\ddot{\varpi}$	ẫ ॐ						
U+047F	Ü	డు						
U+1F545	M	M	ŔЖ	M	M	Ã		Ä
U+0463 U+0486	ŕ	H					~	
U+0463 U+0300	र्षे	4	È					
U+0463 U+0301	4	4	ન્દ્ર ′					
U+0463 U+0311	£	Ŀ	^ t					
U+0463 U+0486 U+0301	Ť	%						
U+A64B U+0486	Š	8						
U+A64B U+0300	8	8	8					
U+A64B U+0301	8	8	8'					
U+A64B U+0311	૪	` 8	8	ક				
U+A64B U+0486 U+0301	ž	8						

capital letters on the same baseline as the lowercase letters (useful for working with the font in an academic context where the traditionally lowered baseline of uppercase letters can cause vertical spacing issues when working with text that is both in Latin and Cyrillic scripts). Here is an example:

5 Fonts for Working with Ancient Manuscripts

5.1 Menaion Unicode

The Menaion typeface is supposed to be used for working with text of Ustav-era manuscripts. It contains the full repertoire of necessary Cyrillic and Glagolitic glyphs as well as glyphs of Byzantine Ecphonetic notation of the kind used in Cyrillic or Glagolitic manuscripts.

The Menaion font was originally designed by Victor A. Baranov at the Manuscript Project. It was re-encoded for Unicode by Aleksandr Andreev with permission of the original author.

Samples of text in Menaion Unicode are presented in Figures 1 and 2. Please note that combining Glagolitic letters (Glagolitic Supplement) became available in Unicode 9.0. In older versions of Microsoft software, correct glyph positioning for these characters using OpenType features may not be possible. To achieve the desired output, we recommend you use LibreOffice, XaTeX, LuaTeX, or advanced desktop publishing software such as Adobe InDesign.

5.1.1 Advanced Features of the Font

The font provides a number of ligatures, which are made by inserting the Zero Width Joiner (U+200D) between two characters. The list of ligatures is provided in Table 6.

6 Fonts for Academic Work

6.1 Monomakh Unicode

Monomakh Unicode is based on the Monomachus font designed by Alexey Kryukov. It has been modified with permission. Monomakh Unicode is a Cyrillic

Figure 1: Cyrillic text from the Ostromir Gospel (11th century) Ніконн бѣ (лово 2 Η (ΛΟΚΟ ΕΈ ΟΤЪ Ба н Бъ бъ 3 (VORO ± (6 P. 4 нскоин оу 5 ба ⊹ н тѣмь в≀а бъі 6 ша + н бед него нн 7 8 · АТЛАТА ЭН ЭЖОТАУ нж бъкть ² въ то 9 МР ЖНВОДУ РФ · Н 10 ЖНВОТЪ Бѣ (ВѣТЪ 1 YΛΟΒΦΚΟΜЪ [~] Η (ΒΦ **ΤЪ ВЪ ТЬМѢ (ВЬТН** 4 ться н тьма нго HE OEAT'S F EVICTP 5 **ЧЛБКЪ ПО(ЪЛАНЪ** 6 отъ ба · нма кмоу 7 ноанъ + тъ приде 8 9 **ዜኤ (ኤቴቴ**፟ቷቴፐ፥ለь (TEO \cdot ΔA (ZEE Δ ET) 10 2.2 1 льствоунть о свъ тѣ [~] да вьсн вѣрж 2 3 та эи ⊹ имн чтжин ፕጌ (ይቴፕጌ ⊹ ዛጌ Дል **(ΣΒΈД**ΈΤΕΛ**Ι**(ΤΒΟΥ 5 HTL O (BTT + FT 6 (ВТТ Н(ТНИЬИТІ 7 н · нже просвъщан 8 ть вснакого улка, 9 граджща въ мнръ ÷ 10

Figure 2: Glagolitic text from *Codex Assemanius* (11th century)

```
÷ ૩૫ન વિજે જેવિક
        ልጋ የደናረዕ
2
            \delta#3\lambda3 \cdot
3
4
           & Qa9v9
        6
            cread .
7
         ୧ଽହର ଧଳ ଓ
     ታል · ፟ ፱ተ · ชล
9
      ያል መልሜብ <mark></mark>ଅብሪ
10
   ш€ ∙ ў щэж дэ‰э
11
12
          ይተፈማይ የተመ
      ያ ተማሪወውን • j
13
        14
     15
    መን ሥል · ል жዋህን
16
17
     መብ ዚል ይሄልመብ
   ታይያያ ያ · ይጀናይት
18
19
      ይህ<mark>ር ል</mark>፠ይመ ይህ
    ውመ ያን ን ተ
20
   ## 3%3 £3 5H €@
```

Table 6: Ligatures available in the Menaion Unicode font

Name	Sequence	Appearance
Small Ligature I-Ye	U+0438 U+200D U+0435	H (
Small Ligature En-I	U+043d U+200D U+0438	Н
Small Ligature En-Small Yus	U+043d U+200D U+0467	N-A
Small Ligature Es-Ve	U+0441 U+200D U+0432	Œ
Small Ligature Te-Er	U+0442 U+200D U+0440	Ŧ
Capital Litagure A-U	U+0410 U+200D U+0423	ar
Small Ligature A-U	U+0430 U+200D U+0443	ar
Small Ligature A-Te	U+0430 U+200D U+0442	a T
Capital Ligature I-Ye	U+0418 U+200D U+0415	H€
Capital Ligature El-Ge	U+041b U+200D U+0413	Λ
Small Ligature El-Ge	U+043b U+200D U+0433	$\boldsymbol{\Lambda}$
Capital Ligature En-I	U+041d U+200D U+0418	ИН
Capital Ligature En-Small Yus	U+041d U+200D U+0466	Ŋ₩
Capital Ligature Es-Ve	U+0421 U+200D U+0412	Œ
Small Ligature Te-Yat	U+0442 U+200D U+0463	玉
Capital Ligature Te-Ve	U+0422 U+200D U+0412	K
Small Ligature Te-Ve	U+0442 U+200D U+0432	E
Capital Ligature Te-I	U+0422 U+200D U+0418	Ŧi
Small Ligature Te-I	U+0442 U+200D U+0438	Ŧi
Capital Ligature Te-Er	U+0422 U+200D U+0420	Ŧ
Ligature Capital A-Small Te	U+0410 U+200D U+0442	7
Capital Ligature Te-Soft Sign	U+0422 U+200D U+042c	T
Small Ligature Te-Soft Sign	U+0442 U+200D U+044C	\mathbf{T}
Small Ligature Te-A	U+0442 U+200D U+0430	Ta

font implemented in a mixed ustav/poluustav style and intended to cover needs of researches dealing with Slavic history and philology. It includes all historical Cyrillic characters currently defined in Unicode, as well as a set of Latin letters designed to be stylistically compatible with the Cyrillic part. This may be useful for typesetting bilingual editions in Church Slavonic and languages written in the Latin script, especially those that use many diacritical marks, as in the Romanian example below.

Fericit bărbatul, care n-a umblat în sfatul necredincioșilor și în calea păcătoșilor nu a stat și pe scaunul hulitorilor n-a șezut; ci în legea Domnului e voia lui și la legea Lui va cugeta ziua și noaptea. și va fi ca un pom răsădit lângă izvoarele apelor, care rodul său va da la vremea sa.

6.1.1 Advanced Features of the Font

The Monomakh font offers a number of optional OpenType features that may be turned on or off by the user. These are:

- Stylistic Set 1 (*ss01*) is provided as a temporary workaround to LibreOffice Bug 85731, which does not allow you to specify the hyphenation character in LibreOffice. When turned on, it replaces all instances of U+002D Hyphen-Minus and U+2010 Hyphen with U+005F Low Line (underscore) for use as a hyphenation character. Please note that this feature will be deprecated once the necessary functionality is added to LibreOffice.
- Stylistic Set 6 (ss06) displays U+0456 Cyrillic Small Letter Ukrainian / Belorussian I with one dot above and Stylistic Set 7 (ss07) displays the same character with two dots above. By default, U+0456 is displayed with no dots.
- Stylistic Set 8 (*ss08*) displays the characters U+0417 Cyrillic Capital Letter Ze and U+0437 Cyrillic Small Letter Ze as a "sharp zemlya", i.e., like the characters U+A640 Cyrillic Capital Letter Zemlya and U+A641 Cyrillic

Small Letter Zemlya, respectively. Generally, this change should be handled at the codepoint level, so the use of this feature is discouraged.

- Stylistic Set 9 (ss09) displays the characters U+0427 Cyrillic Capital Letter Che and U+0447 Cyrillic Small Letter Che in their archaic form, with the descender in the middle (e.g., v instead of v).
- Stylistic Set 10 (*ss10*) displays the characters U+0429 Cyrillic Capital Letter Shcha and U+0449 Cyrillic Small Letter Shcha in their modern form, with the descender on the right (e.g., μ, instead of μ).
- Stylistic Set 11 (*ss11*) displays the characters U+044B Cyrillic Small Letter Yeru and U+A651 Cyrillic Small Letter Yeru with Back Yer with the two glyphs connected (e.g., **ы** instead of **ы**).
- Stylistic Set 13 (*ss13*) displays the character U+0463 Cyrillic Small Letter Yat with the left stem extended to the baseline (e.g., as **rk**). Please note that this is not the same as U+A653 Cyrillic Small Letter Iotified Yat.
- The same functionality of these Stylistic Sets is provided in OpenType also by the Stylistic Alternatives (*salt*) feature.
- Previous versions of the font provided Stylistic Set 1 (ss01), which displayed U+015E Latin Capital Letter S with Cedilla, U+0162 Latin Capital Letter T with Cedilla, and their lowercase analogs, as U+0218 Latin Capital Letter S with Comma Below, U+021A Latin Capital Letter T with Comma Below, and their lowercase analogs. However, since the use of U+015E, U+0162 and their lowercase analogs for the encoding of Romanian text is considered erroneous, this feature is deprecated. Users are strongly encouraged to convert their text at the codepoint level to use the correct characters for Romanian orthography. However, for the sake of compatibility with text that has been erroneously encoded, this feature is still available.
- Stylistic Set 15 (*ss15*), which provides combining Cyrillic letters with an automatic *pokrytie* where warranted by Synodal orthography is also deprecated and may be removed. Users should explicitly encode the *pokrytie* as U+0487 Combining Cyrillic Pokrytie. See UTN 41: Church Slavonic Typography in Unicode for more information.

Two additional features were available in SIL Graphite only; however support for SIL Graphite has been discontinued. If you need these features, see the Legacy Fonts package:

- The Graphite feature Convert Arabic Digits to Church Slavonic (*cnum*), when turned on, will automatically display Western Digits ("Arabic numerals") as Cyrillic numerals. This is helpful, for example, for page numbering in software that does not support Cyrillic numerals.
- The Graphite feature Convert HIP-6B Keystrokes to Church Slavonic Characters (*hipb*), when turned on, will display text encoded in the legacy HIP codepage as Church Slavonic. The use of this feature is discouraged and users are encouraged instead to convert HIP-encoded text to Unicode.

6.2 Shafarik

The Shafarik font is a specialized font intended for an academic presentation of Old Church Slavonic (OCS) texts written in both the Cyrillic or Glagolitic alphabets. The documentation for the font is provided in a separate file.

7 Decorative Fonts

7.1 Indiction Unicode

The Indiction Unicode font reproduces the decorative style of drop caps used in Synodal Slavonic editions since the late 1800's.

The original Indyction font was developed by Vladislav V. Dorosh and was distributed as Indyction UCS as part of CSLTeX, licensed under the Lagranger Public License. The font was reencoded for Unicode and edited by Aleksandr Andreev, and is now distributed as Indiction Unicode under the SIL Open Font License. It is intended for use with *bukvitsi* (drop caps) in modern Church Slavonic editions.

λπέη Μέκα, ήπε με ήμε μα του τα μετειτή υνας, ή μα πετη τρά μημα κα τα, ή μα τάμαλη μη τε επετή με τάμε: μο κα βακόμα τίμη βόλα ἐτὼ, ή κα βακόμα ἐτὼ ποθηήτα μέμι ή μόμι. Η εξιετα κίκω μρέ το ματαπμέ μο πρη μιχόμημης κόμα, ἔπε πλόμα τεό μάτα κο βρέμα τεο ε, μ νης ξιω με Μπαμέπε: η κεω, ξυηκα ημε πκορήπε, οδειμκεπε.

7.2 Vertograd Unicode

Vertograd Unicode (based on Vertograd UCS by Vlad Dorosh) is another font for decorative dropcaps and titling. The typeface was commonly used in prerevolution Russian liturgical editions. Note that some letters that are typically not encountered in capital form are not available. Please file an issue if you need a letter that is not available.

7.3 Cathisma Unicode

Cathisma Unicode is based on Kathisma UCS, designed by Vlad Dorosh. The typeface is used for titling in many 18th–20th century liturgical editions.

YÜH'L OYTPEHU REEHÓUHATU KAKHÏK

7.4 Oglavie Unicode

Oglavie Unicode is based on Oglavie UCS, designed by Vlad Dorosh. The typeface is also used for decorative titling in 18th–20th century liturgical editions.

трїфдь нотнягю пѣнїм

7.5 Pomorsky Unicode

The Pomorsky Unicode font is a close reproduction of the decorative calligraphic style of book and chapter titles, which was most likely developed in the 1700's by the scribes of the Old Ritualist Vyg River Hermitage (Выговская пустынь). It is seen extensively in the chant manuscripts, liturgical manuscripts, hagiographic and polemical works of the Pomortsy and Fedoseyevtsy communities, and is a traditional and "organic" style of lettering lacking any obvious influence from Western European typography. The Pomorsky typeface was originally designed by Nikita Simmons. It is intended for use with *bukvitsi* (drop caps) and decorative titling.

YNNK BEYÉPNI.

7.5.1 Advanced Features of the Font

Several versions of many glyphs are provided in the font. The ornate forms of the letters are default and provided at the uppercase Cyrillic codepoints; they should be used as much as possible. Simpler forms can be used whenever the letters need a less ornate appearance, or when diacritics might conflict with the ornamentation (or when the ornamentation of one character will conflict with the ornamentation of another); these simple forms are available as Stylistic Set 1. There are a few additional characters that are stylistic variants, which are provided as Stylistic Alternatives (salt). Since the font is intended for drop caps and titling, lowercase characters are not available. The base form, the "simple" form, and any stylistic alternatives of a character are demonstrated in Table 7.

8 Technical Fonts: FiraSlav

FiraSlav is a monospaced font for Church Slavonic, intended for editing Church Slavonic text in a text editor. All diacritical marks and combining letters are presented as spacing symbols and a monospaced appearance is maintained. The font includes both regular (FiraSlav Regular) and bold (FiraSlav Bold) flavors. It is especially useful for software and website development applications:

Table 7: Character shapes provided by Pomorsky Unicode

ÄAÄ	SS	S	
	ЖЖ	SS	33
MM	ŊŊ		
38183515	ÅA	MM	MY
		ÄÄ	PPPP
		MY SY	N N
фф	XX	C+DW	
F W	Щ	¥Ч	ШШ
ЩЩ	KK.	KILI	KL
A Like	AN THE	JAJAJA.	KK
Ž Ž	$\mathbf{W}\mathbf{W}$		VV
T T		JAJAJA	A K

9 Known Issues

See the Issue Tracker. Before reporting issues, please check that your software properly supports OpenType. We suggest checking for expected behavior in X₂T_EX or LuaT_EX.

10 Credits

The authors would like to thank the following people:

- Vladislav Dorosh, who allowed his Hirmos font to be re-encoded in Unicode and modified, leading to the creation of the Ponomar font.
- Viktor Baranov of the Manuscripts project, who allowed the re-encoding and modification of his Menaion font.
- Michael Ivanovich for help in designing the characters for Sakha (Yakut), partially taken from his Sakha UCS font.
- Alexey Kryukov, who answered various questions about FontForge, allowed his Monomachus font to be modified and repackaged, and whose extensive documentation for the Old Standard font was consulted and partially reused.
- Mike Kroutikov, who put together the TeX package of the fonts.